IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

**STATE OF WASHINGTON,**  
Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

**ROBERT T. WHEELER,**  
Defendant/Appellant.

FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION II  
2013 MAY 22 AM 11:44  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
BY  DEPUTY

pm 5/20/13

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

On Appeal from Pierce County Superior Court No. 05-1-02167-7  
The Hon. Elizabeth T. Martin, Judge

Jeffrey E. Ellis #17139  
B. Renee Alsept #20400  
*Attorneys for Mr. Wheeler*  
Law Office of Alsept & Ellis  
621 SW Morrison St., Ste 1025  
Portland, OR 97205  
[JeffreyErwinEllis@gmail.com](mailto:JeffreyErwinEllis@gmail.com)  
[ReneeAlsept@gmail.com](mailto:ReneeAlsept@gmail.com)

## I. INTRODUCTION

Robert Wheeler's guilty plea was involuntary because he was misinformed about the maximum punishment—a direct consequence of his plea. This Court should exercise its discretion to reach the merits of this manifest miscarriage of justice. In the alternative, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request the sentencing court exercise its discretion to consider the involuntariness of Mr. Wheeler's guilty plea. Finally, this Court can remand with instructions that the trial court has the discretion to consider whether Wheeler's guilty plea is invalid.

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Mr. Wheeler's guilty plea was invalid because he was repeatedly misinformed about the maximum sentence.

B. Mr. Wheeler filed a Personal Restraint Petition seeking to vacate his judgment because his guilty plea was invalid. This Court remanded for correction of the sentence. Was trial counsel ineffective in failing to move the trial court to exercise its discretion to consider the voluntariness of Wheeler's guilty plea?

C. Should this Court remand with instructions that the trial court has the discretion to consider a challenge to the voluntariness of Wheeler's guilty plea?

## III. FACTS

Robert Wheeler pleaded guilty to one count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and one count of Child Molestation in the First Degree. Supp

CP 48-59. Wheeler's guilty plea form indicates that the maximum sentence for the Rape of a Child count is "life" and \$20,000 (in paragraph 4) and later states that maximum as 20 years and \$50,000 (in paragraph 6). For the Child Molestation count the plea form lists the maximums as "life" and \$20,000 (§ 4), as well as 20 years and a \$50,000 fine (§ 6). When Wheeler was sentenced the same day, the *Judgment* listed the maximum punishment as "20 yrs/\$50,000" and "10 yrs/\$20,000" respectively. CP 60-81.

On March 24, 2010, Mr. Wheeler filed a Personal Restraint Petition challenging the voluntariness of his guilty plea. On July 3, 2012, this Court remanded for correction of the judgment.

At the remand hearing, Mr. Wheeler appeared (with different counsel) in Pierce County Superior Court on October 12, 2012. The Court corrected the judgment to reflect the correct maximum sentences for each crime of conviction: RP 3. Neither counsel for Wheeler nor Wheeler himself requested that the sentencing court exercise its discretion and consider the voluntariness of Wheeler's guilty plea. *Id.*

#### IV. ARGUMENT

##### A. Introduction

When he pleaded guilty, Robert Wheeler was repeatedly misinformed about the maximum sentence for his two crimes of conviction. Each maximum varied slightly from the one before. First, he was told that

each crime carried a “life/\$20,000” maximum. Later, the plea form listed the maximum as 20 years and a \$50,000 fine. CP 48-59. Finally, when he was sentenced that same day, the maximum was described as 20 years for one crime and 10 years for the other. CP 60-81. The correct maximum for each crime was life and a \$50,000 fine.

B. Mr. Wheeler’s Guilty Plea is Unquestionably Invalid.

This was not merely a ministerial error. The maximum penalty is a direct consequence of a guilty plea. *State v. Vensel*, 88 Wn.2d 552, 555, 564 P.2d 326 (1977). The maximum punishment is even more critical where an indeterminate sentence is imposed, as it was here.

Wheeler’s plea was based on misinformation about a direct consequence when he was repeatedly misadvised about the maximum penalty. As a result, Wheeler’s plea was neither knowing, nor voluntary.

When a defendant pleads guilty, he must do so knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. *Henderson v. Morgan*, 426 U.S. 637, 644-45, 96 S.Ct. 2253, 49 L.Ed.2d 108 (1976); *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 466, 89 S.Ct. 1166, 22 L.Ed.2d 418 (1969); *State v. Ross*, 129 Wn.2d 279, 284, 916 P.2d 405 (1996); Whether a plea satisfies this standard depends primarily on whether the defendant correctly understood its consequences. *State v. Walsh*, 143 Wn.2d 1, 8, 17 P.3d 591 (2001); *State v. Miller*, 110 Wn.2d 528, 531, 756 P.2d 122 (1988). *See also* CrR 4.2(d); *In re Fonseca*, 132 Wn. App. 464, 132 P.3d 154 (2006) (plea

withdrawn where defendant did not know he was ineligible for DOSA at time he pled guilty).

A defendant must be properly informed of all direct consequences of his guilty plea. *See State v. Ross*, 129 Wn.2d 279, 285, 916 P.2d 405 (1996); *State v. Barton*, 93 Wn.2d 301, 305, 609 P.2d 1353(1980) (“Defendant must be informed of all the direct consequences of his plea prior to acceptance of a guilty plea.”). In *In re Pers. Restraint of Hoisington*, 99 Wn. App. 423, 993 P.2d 296 (1999), the Court stated that “a guilty plea entered on a plea bargain that is based upon misinformation about sentencing consequences is not knowingly made.” 99 Wn. App. at 428.

When he pled guilty, Wheeler was misinformed about the maximum penalties. The maximum possible sentence is a “direct” consequence of a guilty plea. *State v. Vensel*, 88 Wn.2d at 555 (“We believe it is important at the time a plea of guilty is entered, whether in justice or superior court, that the record show on its face the plea was entered voluntarily and intelligently, and affirmatively show the defendant understands the maximum term which may be imposed.”).

It is elemental that the maximum possible punishment that follows conviction also includes the maximum fine for the offense charged. *See RCW 9A.20.010. See also Ables v. Scott*, 73 F.3d 591, 592 n. 2 (5th



Cir.1996) (citing *United States v. Rivera*, 898 F.2d 442, 447 (5th Cir.1990)). Because a potential fine enhances a defendant's sentence, it is a direct, not a collateral, consequence of a guilty plea. See *Ross*, 129 Wn.2d at 285 (to qualify as a direct consequence of a guilty plea, the effect must either enhance the defendant's sentence or alter the standard of punishment).

Where a defendant is misinformed about a “direct consequence of a guilty plea” he does not need to demonstrate that the misinformation materially affected his decision to plead guilty. *In re Pers. Restraint of Isadore*, 151 Wn.2d 294, 88 P.3d 390 (2004). According to *Isadore*, a defendant “need not make a special showing of materiality” in order for misinformation to render a guilty plea invalid, but instead must show that the misinformation concerned “a *direct* consequence of [the] guilty plea.” 151 Wn.2d at 296 (emphasis added).

Withdrawal of a guilty plea is appropriate even where correction of the mistake works to a defendant’s benefit. For example, in *State v. Mendoza*, 157 Wn.2d 582, 141 P.3d 149 (2006), the Washington Supreme Court held that a guilty plea is involuntary when it is based on a miscalculated sentence range, even where the correct sentence range results in a lower sentence. 157 Wn.2d at 584. “Accordingly, we adhere to our precedent establishing that a guilty plea may be deemed involuntary when based on a direct consequence of the plea, regardless of whether the actual

sentence range is lower or higher than anticipated. Absent a showing that the defendant was correctly informed of all of the direct consequences of his guilty plea, the defendant may move to withdraw the plea.” *Id.* at 591.

Because the *Mendoza* decision is central to this case, a brief exposition is warranted. The *Mendoza* opinion begins its reasoning with the settled law that when a defendant pleads guilty, due process requires that he must do so knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. *Id.* at 587; *In re Isadore, supra* (citing *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969) (“Consequently, if a defendant's guilty plea is not equally voluntary and knowing, it has been obtained in violation of due process and is therefore void. Moreover, because a guilty plea is an admission of all the elements of a formal criminal charge, it cannot be truly voluntary unless the defendant possesses an understanding of the law in relation to the facts.”). This standard is reflected in CrR 4.2(d), which mandates that the trial court “shall not accept a plea of guilty, without first determining that it is made voluntarily, competently and with an understanding of the nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea.”

The *Mendoza* court then relies on the “clarification” in *Isadore* that a defendant who is misinformed of a direct consequence of pleading guilty is not required to show the information was material to his decision to plead guilty in order to seek withdrawal of the plea. (“In determining whether the

plea is constitutionally valid, we decline to engage in a subjective inquiry into the defendant's subjective risk calculation and the reasons underlying his or her decision to accept the plea bargain.”). *Mendoza*, 157 Wn.2d at 590-91. A guilty plea based on incorrect information regarding a direct consequence of the plea is deemed involuntary without a case specific showing of materiality because a “reviewing court cannot determine with certainty how a defendant arrived at his personal decision to plead guilty, nor discern what weight a defendant gave to each factor relating to the decision.” *Isadore*, 151 Wn.2d at 302. Instead, a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent guilty plea requires a meeting of the minds. *See State v. Miller*, 110 Wn.2d 528, 531, 756 P.2d 122 (1988).

*Mendoza* created one exception to the rule above. When a defendant is “clearly informed before sentencing” of the correct direct consequences of the plea, “and the defendant does not object or move to withdraw the plea on that basis before he is sentenced, the defendant waives the right to challenge the voluntariness of the plea.” 157 Wn.2d at 592.

That exception does not apply in this case. Here, there was an obvious and uncorrected mutual mistake about the maximum fine which renders Wheeler's plea involuntary. Although different maximum sentences were announced at sentencing, those maximums were as incorrect as the two listed on the guilty plea form. In three tries, the maximum was misstated three times.

Where a plea agreement is based on misinformation, the defendant may choose specific enforcement of the agreement or withdrawal of the guilty plea.” *Walsh*, 143 Wn.2d at 8-9. *See also In re Pers. Restraint of Hoisington*, 99 Wn. App. 423, 993 P.2d 296 (2000). The defendant's choice of remedy controls, unless there are compelling reasons not to allow that remedy. *Miller*, 110 Wn.2d at 535. Wheeler wishes to withdraw his guilty plea.

C. This Obvious Error Should Not Go Uncorrected. Either This Court Should Review the Merits of Wheeler’s Claim of Should Remand With an Instruction That the Trial Court Possesses the Discretion to Consider the Claim.

Mr. Wheeler has been seeking to withdraw his guilty plea since he filed his first PRP. The trial court had the discretion to consider that claim, if trial counsel had raised it. There was no reason for trial counsel not to raise the issue, unless trial counsel misunderstood the law.

This Court has the discretion to either consider the claim in this appeal or to remand to the trial court. Obviously, Wheeler would prefer that this Court reach the issue given the amount of time that has lapsed.

Both court rules and caselaw explain that an “old” issue can be considered in a “new” sentencing hearing or appeal.

The United States Supreme Court recognized the ability of state courts to restore the pendency of a case in *Jimenez v. Quarterman*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 129 S.Ct. 681(2009). In that case, after Jimenez lost his first appeal and

after the time to challenge his conviction had run, the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals granted Jimenez an out-of-time appeal. *Id.* at 683-84. In his petition for a writ of habeas corpus, Jimenez argued that the discretionary decision to grant an otherwise out-of-time appeal restored the pendency of the case. *Id.* at 684. The Supreme Court agreed, reasoning once the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals granted the out-of-time appeal, Jimenez's case was no longer final for purposes of collateral review. *Id.* at 686. In other words, when the state court exercised its discretionary power to entertain an otherwise out-of-time appeal the conviction, which had earlier been final, was no longer.

Court rules gave the trial court and give this Court the discretion to reach the obvious merits of Wheeler's claim. The pendency of a case otherwise final under RAP 12.7 can be revived pursuant to RAP 2.5(c). Washington courts have interpreted RAP 2.5(c)(1) to allow trial courts, as well as appellate courts, discretion to revisit an issue on remand that was not the subject of the earlier appeal. *State v. Barberio*, 121 Wash.2d 48, 51, 846 P.2d 519 (1993). This is consistent with RAP 12.2, which allows trial courts to entertain post-judgment motions authorized by statute or court rules, as long as the motions do not challenge issues already decided on appeal. If the trial court elects to exercise this discretion, its decision may be the subject of a later appeal, thereby restoring the pendency of the

case. *Id.* at 50, 846 P.2d 519 ; *accord* RAP 2.2(9), (10), (13) (providing right to appeal from postjudgment orders).

This Court can also reach this issue because trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue that the sentencing court should exercise its discretion and entertain Wheeler's motion to withdraw his guilty plea. The law gave the sentencing court that discretion and Wheeler obviously has sought to withdraw his plea for years. The fact that Wheeler did not verbalize this desire at the hearing is of no moment. Wheeler was not required to act as his own attorney, pointing out the deficient performance as it happens.

Finally, this Court could also remand this case to Pierce County Superior Court with an instruction that the court has the discretion to consider a motion by Wheeler to withdraw his guilty plea. At such a hearing, both parties would be able to present all of the equities—the most important of which is the simple fact that Wheeler was convicted and is serving life-maximum sentences based on guilty pleas that are unquestionably invalid. In the end, the question posed here is whether the law should permit correction of a manifest error identified after its harm was realized.