NO. 44141-1

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ROBERT T. WHEELER, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Elizabeth T. Martin

No. 05-1-02167-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
JASON RUYF
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Defendant pleaded guilty to first degree child rape and first degree child molestation on April 17, 2006. CP 40. The trial court sentenced Defendant under the Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA). CP 37. It suspended most of the 131.75 month standard range sentence for the child rape, and 89 month standard range sentence for the child molestation. *Id.* CP 37. Defendant's judgment became final when he failed to file a timely notice of appeal. *Id.* The trial court imposed the suspended time as total confinement when it revoked Defendant's SSOSA for noncompliance in 2009. *Id.*

Defendant filed a personal restraint petition ("PRP") in 2010, contending he was entitled to withdraw his guilty plea because the

judgment and sentence misstated the maximum sentence for his offenses. *Id.*; App.Br.at 1. The judgment listed the maximum sentence of "twenty years and/or a fine of \$50,000" for first degree child rape, and "10 years and/or a fine of \$20,000" for first degree child molestation. CP 37. The correct maximum sentence for those class A felonies was "life in prison and/or a fine of \$50,000." *Id.* The Court of Appeals correctly observed the outcome of Defendant's PRP was controlled by *In re Pers. Restraint of Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 267 P.3d 324 (2011), which required it be "grant[ed] ... only for the purpose of remanding to the trial court for correction of the maximum sentences set forth in [his] judgment and sentence." CP 38 (40489-3-II). The trial court corrected the judgment as ordered on October 12, 2012. CP 35; RP 3-4.

Defendant filed a notice of appeal on November 6, 2012. CP 40. His appeal reasserts the time-bar challenge to his guilty plea that the Court of Appeals rejected when it decided his PRP. *See* App.Br. at 1-2; CP 37. Defendant further asserts his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move for reconsideration of his PRP below when the trial court corrected his judgment and sentence on remand.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT'S APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED FOR FAILING TO RAISE AN ISSUE FOR REVIEW.

- a) The trial court corrected Defendant's judgment as directed by the Court of Appeals.

A trial court does not create an issue for review when it corrects a judgment and sentence as ordered by the Court of Appeals on remand without exercising independent discretion. *State v. Kilgore*, 167 Wn.2d 28, 40, 216 P.3d 393 (2009)(citing *State v. Mahone*, 98 Wn. App. 342, 346, 989 P.2d 583 (1999); *State v. Rowland*, 160 Wn. App. 316, 328-29, 249 P.3d 635 (2011)).

The trial court corrected Defendant's judgment and sentence as directed by this Court without taking any further action in his case. RP 4; CP 35-39. There is consequently no issue for review.

Defendant appears to argue the trial court should have allowed him to withdraw his guilty plea despite this Court's denial of that relief in his untimely collateral attack. *See* App.Br. at 1; CP 37-39. The trial court would not have been free to deviate from this Court's resolution of that issue had Defendant raised it on remand.¹ *Kilgore*, 167 Wn.2d at 38-39 (citing RAP2.5(c)(2); *State v. Schwab*, 163 Wn.2d 664, 676, 185 P.3d 1151 (2008); *State v. Collicott*, 118 Wn.2d 649, 660, 827 P.2d 263

¹ Defendant failed to preserve the issue he is attempting to relitigate on appeal by failing to raise it below. RP 5; App.Br. at 10; *see also e.g., State v. Lee*, 162 Wn. App. 852, 857, 259 P.3d 294 (2011)(citing RAP 2.5).

(1992)); see also *In re Coats*, 173 Wn.2d at 123; *In re Pers. Restraint McKieraran*, 165 Wn.2d 777, 203 P.3d 375 (2009); RCW 10.73.090;.100. This appeal would fail even if the trial court was empowered to grant the relief Defendant claims was erroneously withheld as a trial court's failure to exercise sentencing discretion when correcting a judgment on remand is not a judicial act capable of review. See *State v. Barberio*, 121 Wn.2d 48, 51, 846 P.2d 519 (1993).

- b) To the extent this appeal can be interpreted as seeking reconsideration of Defendant's PRP it should be denied because this Court properly decided the PRP pursuant to prevailing Supreme Court authority.

RAP 2.5(c)(2) empowers appellate courts to review the propriety of a earlier decision in the case at the instance of a party and decide the case according to the appellate court's opinion of the law at the time of later review. *Schwab*, 163 Wn.2d at 672 (citing *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41-2, 123 P.3d 844 (2005)). Such reconsideration may be warranted where the prior decision was "clearly erroneous" in a way that works "a manifest injustice to one party ... and no corresponding injustice ... to the other party if the erroneous holding were set aside." *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d at 41-2 (citing *Folsom v. County of Spokane*, 111 Wn.2d 256, 264, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988)). It may also be warranted where there has been an intervening change in the law. *Schwab*, 163 Wn.2d at 673 (citing *Roberson*, 156 Wn.2d at 42).

This Court properly applied binding Supreme Court precedent when it rejected the untimely collateral attack of Defendant's guilty plea due to the facial validity of his judgment. CP 38-39 (*citing In re Coats*, 173 Wn.2d at 123).² The law that directed this Court's analysis has not changed and continues to require the result this Court reached. *See State v. Gore*, 101 Wn.2d at 486-87, 681 P.2d 227 (1984); *State v. Richardson*, 177 Wn.2d 351, 302 P.3d 156 (2013)(*citing In re Coats*, 173 Wn.2d at 123); *see also In re Toledo-Sotelo*, 176 Wn.2d 759, 297 P.3d 51 (2013) (facially invalidity not established by "technical misstatement that had no actual effect on the rights of the petitioner...")(quoting *In re Pers. Restraint McKieraran*, 165 Wn.2d 777 (2009)(mistaken statement regarding maximum sentence on judgment and sentence did not render it facially invalid). Defendant has failed to raise an issue warranting review.

2. DEFENDANT IMPROPERLY EMPLOYS A TIMELY APPEAL FROM THE CORRECTION OF HIS JUDGMENT TO PRESENT AN UNTIMELY APPEAL OF HIS CONVICTION.

Appeal from final judgment will be dismissed if it is not taken within 30 days. *See State v. Gaut*, 111 Wn. App. 875, 880-81, 46 P.3d 832 (2002) (*citing* RAP 5.2). A forfeited right to appeal a conviction based on a guilty plea cannot be revived through a timely appeal from a

² Defendant did not timely move for reconsideration of that ruling under RAP 12.4, or seek discretionary review under RAP 13.5A.

correction of judgment. *Id.*; see also *Kilgore*, 167 Wn.2d at 38-39; *Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123; *McKieraran*, 165 Wn.2d 777.

Defendant's ability to appeal his conviction was foreclosed when his judgment became final in 2006. *See* CP 37. He cannot circumvent the preclusive effect of RAP 5.2's time limit by introducing a time-barred challenge to the underlying guilty plea through an appeal from the appellate court ordered technical correction to his judgment and sentence. *See Id.*; RAP 5.2.³ Defendant's attempt to obtain review of an untimely appeal should be rejected as improper.

3. DEFENDANT CANNOT PROVE HIS COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO URGE THE TRIAL COURT TO CONSIDER AN ISSUE THE COURT OF APPEALS ALREADY DECIDED IN HIS CASE.

A defendant endeavoring to prove ineffective assistance of counsel must prove (1) defense counsel was deficient, *i.e.*, counsel fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances; and (2) defense counsel's deficient representation prejudiced the defendant, *i.e.*, there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would

³ The time to collaterally attack that judgment expired in 2007. RCW 10.73.090; CP 37-9.

have been different. *State v. Brown*, 159 Wn. App. 366, 370, 245 P.3d 776 (2011)(citing *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 889 P. 2d 1251 (1995)). A failure to make either showing terminates review. *Id.* (citing *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987)).

Appellate review of counsel's performance starts from a strong presumption of reasonableness. *State v. Bowerman*, 115 Wn.2d 794, 808, 802 P.2d 116 (1990). Defense counsel has a duty to investigate reasonable lines of defense, but "has no duty to pursue strategies that reasonably appear unlikely to succeed." *Brown*, 159 Wn. App. at 371 (quoting *McFarland, supra*, at 334 n.2.). Counsel's failure to raise novel legal theories or arguments is not ineffective assistance. *Id.*

Defendant claims his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue the alleged invalidity of his guilty plea when the trial court corrected his judgment on remand. App. Br. at 1. His trial counsel accurately observed the trial court corrected Defendant's judgment as ordered by the Court of Appeals. RP 3-4; CP 35-39. Counsel had an affirmative duty to refrain from advocating disregard of this Court's binding interpretation of controlling Supreme Court authority below. *See* CP 38 (citing *In re Coats*, 173 Wn.2d at 143; *see also Schwab*, 163 Wn.2d at 671-72⁴ (appellate court's decision "is binding on the parties" and "governs all subsequent proceedings in the action"); RPC 3.3 (a lawyer shall avoid conduct that

⁴ *But see*, RAP 12.2, RAP 7(d), RAP 9.